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To amend the administrative code of the city of New York, in relation to enforcement and penalties of premises discharging into the sewer system.

Administrative Code:
Amends section 24-524.

Int. No. 123:

By Council Members Gennaro, DeBlasio, Diaz, Lopez, Monserrate, Nelson, Sears, Serrano and Liu; also Council Members Koppell and Sanders

Title:




To amend the administrative code of the city of New York, in relation to increasing civil penalties for water pollution, drainage, and sewer control violations, and to repeal subdivision b of section 24-513, relating to the penalty imposed for violating such section.

Administrative Code:
Amends sections 24-508 and 24-524; repeals subdivision b of section 24-513.




On October 10, 2002, the Committee on Environmental Protection will hold an oversight hearing on the New York City Department of Environmental Protection’s management of the City’s wastewater treatment system.  The Committee will also hear testimony on Int. No. 58, which would amend the Administrative Code of the City of New York, in relation to enforcement and penalties for improper discharges into the sewer system.  In addition, the Committee will hear testimony on Int. No. 123, which would amend the Administrative Code of the City of New York, in relation to increasing civil penalties for water pollution, drainage, and sewer control violations, and to repeal subdivision (b) of section 24-513, relating to the penalty imposed for violating such section.

I.
Background 


On average, each person in the United States contributes approximately fifty to one hundred gallons of wastewater every day.
  Upon applying that fact to New York City, it is estimated that the City’s eight million residents are responsible for approximately 400 million to 800 million gallons of wastewater daily.  This fact does not take into account the many more people who are in New York City daily, but are not residents.  Municipal wastewater typically includes human waste, in addition to stormwater, food scraps and materials from industrial and commercial activities, such as 

chemicals, oils and grease.  Although natural processes are able to render safe small 

amounts of pollutants and contaminants, these processes could never handle the massive 

amounts of waste material that is produced in municipalities such as New York.    



The wastewater treatment system of New York City is one of the largest in the world.  It consists of fourteen wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs), ranging in design 

capacity from 40 million gallons per day (mgd) to 310 mgd.
,
  These WWTPs process 

about 1.3 billion gallons of sewage per day.
  The City’s sewage system also consists of 6,000 miles of sewers
 and approximately 500 outfalls.
  The New York City Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) is charged with managing and operating this extensive system.  



The following is a list of the fourteen in-City WWTPs owned and operated by New York City
:





                              Construction
Flow
Flow          
Estimated Pop.

WWTP & Location
Date        Avg.(mgd)  Capacity (mgd)     Served____ 
1. Hunts Point, Bronx
1977+ 
120
200
       629,927

2. Coney Island, Brooklyn
1994+
97
100
       602,097


3. Newtown Creek, Brooklyn
1967
246
310
       1,039,294

4. Owls Head, Brooklyn
1996+
107
120
       761,479

5. Red Hook, Brooklyn
1987
33
60
       192,215

6. 26th Ward, Brooklyn
1975+
62
85
       271,240

7. North River, Manhattan
1986
131
170
       584,192

8. Wards Island, Manhattan
1979+
194
250
       1,000,213

9. Jamaica, Queens
1978+
81
100
       632.148

10. Rockaway, Queens
1978+
20
45
       94,471

11. Tallman Island, Queens
1979+
56
80
       388,214

12. Bowery Bay, Queens
1978+
114
150
       727,117

13. Port Richmond, Staten Island
1978+
35
60
       172,268

14. Oakwood Beach, S.I.
1979+
28
40
       151,585

II. Wastewater Treatment




The primary goal of wastewater treatment is to remove as many suspended solids and contaminants from the wastewater prior to its return to the environment.  This process is crucial in order to protect the receiving waterbodies into which wastewater is released.  As organic solid material – which makes up most of the wastewater that originates in households – decays in water, it uses up the oxygen that is necessary for the survival of plants and animal species.   In addition, the presence of excessive nutrients that are found in organic waste matter, such as nitrogen and phosphorous, may also lead to eutrophication
, resulting in the further depletion of dissolved oxygen.


Wastewater treatment typically occurs in two phases – primary and secondary treatment.  Primary treatment removes approximately 40 – 50 % of the solids in the wastewater.  As sewage flows into a WWTP, it goes through a screen, which removes large, floating objects.
  After the wastewater has been screened, it goes into a grit chamber, which slows down the flow of water and allows sand, grit and other heavy solids to settle and be removed.
  “A grit chamber is particularly important with communities with combined sewer systems where sand or gravel may wash into sewers along with storm water.”
  Combined sewer systems are sewers, such as those in most of New York City, that are designed to collect rainwater runoff, domestic sewage, and industrial wastewater in the same pipe.
  After the wastewater flows through the grit chamber, it flows into a primary sedimentation tank, in which smaller particles settle.  “When the speed of the flow through one of these tanks is reduced, the suspended solids will gradually sink to the bottom, where they form a mass of solids called raw primary biosolids. . . . [that] may be further treated for use as a fertilizer, or disposed of in a landfill or incinerated.”


The secondary treatment phase removes approximately 85 percent of the organic matter in sewage.
  In the “activated sludge process”, which is utilized by New York City’s WWTPs, the wastewater moves through an aeration tank, where the wastewater is mixed with air and sludge, which contains microorganisms that break down the organic matter into harmless byproducts.
  The wastewater then flows into a secondary sedimentation tank where the microorganisms and solid waste settle out into clumps, known as “activated sludge”, which may be reused in the aeration tank.
  Secondary treatment is completed when a disinfectant, such as chlorine, is added to the wastewater to reduce odor and kill pathogenic bacteria.
  

Unfortunately, since New York City’s WWTPs “are not designed to treat metals, other toxics or grease and oil, [these materials end up] in either bio-solids, plant effluent or as air emissions without reduction.”
  The City’s WWTPs are also not designed to treat nitrogen, which, as mentioned above, may result in the depletion of dissolved oxygen in the receiving waterbody.

III. Regulatory Requirements

Pursuant to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972, more familiarly known as the “Clean Water Act”, 33 U.S.C. §1342, et seq., the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) established a “National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System” (NPDES) for pollution discharges from point sources into the waters of the United States.  States may be authorized under the Clean Water Act to operate their own NPDES program, if such program is at least as stringent as the federal system.  The New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (NYSDEC) has received such authorization and administers the State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (SPDES) permit program in New York.   

Waterbodies have designated limits regarding the amounts of pollutants they can receive without degradation.  These limits are known as “Total Maximum Daily Loads” (TMDLs), which set the maximum amount of a pollutant that a body of water can receive and still meet water quality standards.
  States set water quality standards for each body of water in their respective States.  Such standards “define the goals for a waterbody by designating its uses, setting criteria to protect those uses, and establishing provisions to protect water quality from pollution.”
 

SPDES permits impose limits on the amounts of pollutants that a source can lawfully discharge so as to meet the State’s water quality standards for the receiving waterbody.  In addition, these permits impose sampling, recording, reporting, monitoring and operational requirements for wastewater treatment plants.
   A wastewater treatment plant must obtain a SPDES permit in order to operate. 

Currently, all municipal WWTPs are required to meet secondary treatment standards, established by the EPA.  These standards are “technology-based regulations [that] . . . represent the minimum level of effluent quality attainable by secondary treatment, as reflected in terms of 5-day biochemical oxygen demand
 (BOD5) and total suspended solids (TSS) removal.”
   All of the City’s fourteen in-City WWTPs, but for the Newtown Creek plant in Brooklyn, have been upgraded or built to meet the full federal and State secondary treatment requirements.
  

Like many other municipal WWTPs, as mentioned in Section II, above, the City’s WWTPs are not designed to treat metals and other toxics.  To address this concern, the EPA established a National Pretreatment Program.  That program sets forth General Pretreatment Regulations that establish the “responsibilities of Federal, State, and local government, industry and the public to implement Pretreatment Standards to control pollutants from the industrial users which may pass through or interfere with [Publicly Owned Treatment Works] . . . treatment processes or which may contaminate sewage sludge.”
  The presence of industrial contaminants in WWTP effluent may cause fish kills and other detrimental effects in receiving waters.
  The City’s Industrial Pretreatment Program, which focuses on commercial wastewater, requires targeted industries to treat and remove toxics from their wastewater.   The DEP also works to control toxics in residential and commercial wastewater through its Pollution Prevention Program, which educates the public on how to reduce the use of toxic materials and products.

IV. Int. No. 58



Int. No. 58 seeks to reduce the amount of grease and cooking oil that is discharged into the City’s sewer system.  Such materials clog the City’s sewers and result in sewer back-ups, which damage property and affect public health.
  



Section one of Int. No. 58 amends subdivision (g) of section 24-524 of the Administrative Code of the City of New York by changing the fines for those convicted of a misdemeanor for violating sections 24-504 through 24-522 or section 24-523 of the Code.  Those sections of the Code include requirements relating to the construction and protection of and connection to the City’s sewers.  The legislation changes the minimum fine from $250 to $400 and the maximum fine from $1,000 to $10,000.  Section one also amends subdivision (g) by inserting language that states that convictions of the above sections of the Code may also be punished by the suspension or revocation of a license or permit issued for any food service establishment that discharges into the sewer system.


Section two of the legislation states that the law shall take effect sixty days after it is enacted.

V. Int. No. 123


Section one of Int. No. 123 amends subdivision (e) of section 24-508 of the Administrative Code of the City of New York by deleting the penalty for a violation of that subdivision. Thus, with this deletion, the penalty provisions of section 24-524 of the Code would apply to section 24-508.  Section 24-508 sets forth requirements for the construction of sewers by the owners of private property.





Section two of the legislation repeals subdivision (b) of section 24-513 of the Administrative Code, which requires that all openings into any sewers or drains, for the purpose of making connection therewith, from any house, cellar, vault, yard or other premises, shall be made by persons to be licensed by the Commissioner of Environmental Protection.  Section 24-513 also delineates conditions that must be met with respect to the work performed by such licensees.



Section three amends subdivision (f) of section 24-524 of the Administrative Code by changing the civil penalty for which someone would be liable for a violation of sections 24-504 through 24-522 and 24-523 of the Code, or any order, rule or regulation issued by the Environmental Control Board or the Commissioner of Environmental Protection pursuant thereto or with the conditions of any permit issued pursuant thereto. Those sections of the Code include requirements relating to the construction and protection of and connection to the City’s sewers.  Subdivision (f) changes the civil penalty from “not less than fifty nor more than one thousand dollars for each violation” to a penalty “not exceeding ten thousand dollars for each violation”, provided that subdivision (f) shall not apply to subdivision (c) of section 24-509 or subdivisions (a) and (b) of section 24-521.  Those portions of the Code contain their own, specific penalty provisions.



Subdivision (c) of section 24-509 states that when public sewers are made available, an individual on-site private sewage disposal system or any other means of sewage disposal or discharge shall be abandoned in a manner prescribed by the Commissioner of Buildings.  That subdivision further states that the building house sewer shall be connected to the available public sewer within six months of the date of notification that the sewer has been accepted to receive flow.  



Subdivision (a) of section 24-521 concerns excavations for public works and sets forth requirements for notice to public service corporations (such as KeySpan or Con Edison) when such activity occurs.  Subdivision (b) of section 24-521 requires that public service corporations protect their property, such as pipes, mains and conduits, whenever such property is about to be disturbed, upon the receipt of the notice required by subdivision (a) of that section.



Section three amends subdivision (g) of section 24-524 of the Administrative Code by changing the fine for which someone who is convicted of a misdemeanor pursuant to subdivision (g) must pay.  The bill changes the fine from not more than one thousand dollars or by imprisonment not exceeding thirty days, or both, for each violation, to a fine of not more than ten thousand dollars, or by imprisonment not exceeding ninety days, or both for each offense.   Subdivision (g) is also amended to state that it does not apply to subdivision (c) of section 24-509 or subdivisions (a) and (b) of section 24-521.

Section three also amends subdivision (g) to state that, in addition to its application to any other person, the fine provided for in that subdivision shall be deemed a special fine for a corporation within the meaning of section 80.10 of the Penal Law of New York State.  That section of the Penal Law allows a court to fix a fine of an amount not exceeding double the amount of the corporation’s gain from the commission of the offense.



There is a second Section three of the bill that states that the law shall take effect on the thirtieth day after it shall have become a law.  This section should be renumbered as Section 4.

Int. No. 58

By Council Members Nelson, Provenzano, Sears, Avella, Fidler, Reed and Liu; also Council Member Clarke

..Title

A Local Law to amend the administrative code of the city of New York, in relation to enforcement and penalties of premises discharging into the sewer system.

..Body

Be it enacted by the Council as follows:
    
Section 1. Subdivision g of section 24‑524 of the administrative code of the city of New York is amended to read as follows:


g. In addition to the civil penalties set forth in subdivision f of this section, any person who knowingly violates or fails to comply with any provisions of sections 24-504 through 24-522 or section 24-523 of this chapter or any order, rule or regulation issued by the commissioner of environmental protection or environmental control board pursuant thereto or with the conditions of any permit issued pursuant thereto shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by a fine of not less than [two hundred fifty] four hundred nor more than [one thousand] two thousand dollars, or by imprisonment not exceeding thirty days, and may also be punished by suspension or revocation of a license or permit issued for any food service establishment, as defined in paragraph 16 of subdivision a of section 24-523 of this chapter, that discharges into the sewer system, or [both] all for each violation. In the case of a continuing violation each day’s continuance shall be a separate and distinct offense.


§2. This local law shall take effect 60 days after it is enacted into law.

Int. No. 123

By Council Members Gennaro, DeBlasio, Diaz, Lopez, Monserrate, Nelson, Sears, Serrano and Liu; also Council Members Koppell and Sanders

A Local Law to amend the administrative code of the city of New York, in relation to increasing civil penalties for water pollution, drainage, and sewer control violations and to repeal subdivision b of section 24-513, relating to the penalty imposed for violating such section.
..Title

Be it enacted by the Council as follows:
Section 1. Subdivision e of section 24-508 of the administrative code of the city of New York is amended to read as follows:

e. It shall be unlawful for any person to represent to any prospective purchaser of property that a sewer constructed in any street is a city sewer unless such sewer shall have been constructed by the city in accordance with the legally adopted drainage plan of the city and/or accepted as a public sewer in accordance with the provisions of the code.

[The penalty for a violation of this subdivision shall be a fine of five dollars for each and every foot of sewer so laid.]

§2. Subdivision b of section 24-513 of the administrative code of the city of New York is REPEALED. 

§3. Subdivisions f and g of section 24-524 of the administrative code of the city of New York are amended to read as follows:

f. Any person who violates or fails to comply with any of the provisions of sections 24-504 through 24-522 and 24-523 of this chapter or any order, rule or regulation issued by the environmental control board or commissioner of environmental protection pursuant thereto or with the conditions of any permit issued pursuant thereto shall be liable for a civil penalty [of not less than fifty nor more than one] not exceeding ten thousand dollars for each violation , provided that this subdivision shall not apply to subdivision c of section 24-509 or subdivisions a and b of section 24-521. In the case of a continuing violation each day’s continuance shall be a separate and distinct offense.  The environmental control board shall have the power to impose such civil penalties.  A proceeding to impose such penalties shall be commenced by the service of a notice of violation returnable to such board.  Such board, after a hearing as provided by the rules and regulations of the board, shall have the power to enforce its final decisions and orders imposing such civil penalties as if they were money judgments pursuant to subdivision d of section fourteen hundred four of the New York city charter.  A civil penalty imposed by the board may also be collected in an action brought in the name of the city in any court of competent jurisdiction.  The board, in its discretion, may, within the limits set forth in this subdivision, establish a schedule of civil penalties indicating the minimum and maximum penalty for each separate offense.

g. In addition to the civil penalties set forth in subdivision f of this section, any person who knowingly violates or fails to comply with any provision of sections 24-504 through 24-522 or section 24-523 of this chapter or any order, rule or regulation issued by the commissioner of environmental protection or environmental control board pursuant thereto or with the conditions of any permit issued pursuant thereto shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by a fine of not less than two hundred fifty nor more than [one] ten thousand dollars, or by imprisonment not exceeding [thirty] ninety days, or both for each [violation] offense, provided that this subdivision shall not apply to subdivision c of section 24-509 or subdivisions a and b of section 24-521. In the case of a continuing violation each day’s continuance shall be a separate and distinct offense.  In addition to its application to any other person, the fine provided for in this paragraph shall be deemed a special fine for a corporation within the meaning of section 80.10 of the penal law of the state of New York. 
§3. This local law shall take effect on the thirtieth day after it shall have become a law. 

� http://www.ci.columbia.mo.us/dept/pubw/sewer_utility/Wwtppg_4.htm


� The New York City Department of Environmental Protection manages nine upstate WWTPs, as well, which are not the focus of this hearing.


� Walter Liong-Ting and Russell Haven , “A Citizen Guide to Waste Water Treatment Plants in New York City”, New York Public Interest Research Group, 1988, p. 1.


� http://nyc.gov/html/dep/html/grease.html


� Id.


� Interstate Environmental Commission, 2001 Annual Report, p. 28.


� Id. at pp. A-2 – A-3.  (A “+” after a construction date indicates a year of major additions or reconstruction.)





� Id.


� “Eutrophication” is a condition in an aquatic ecosystem where high nutrient concentrations stimulate blooms of algae (e.g., phytoplankton). http://www.epa.gov/maia/html/eutroph.html


� “How Wastewater Treatment Works . . . the Basics”, United States Environmental Protection Agency,  EPA 833-F-98-002, May 1998, p. 1.


� “About Wastewater Treatment”, New York City Department of Environmental Protection, 1988, p. 6.


� “How Wastewater Treatment Works”, p. 1.


� http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/home.cfm?program_id=5


� “How Wastewater Treatment Works”, p. 2.


� Id.


� Id.


� “About Wastewater Treatment”, p. 7.


� “How Wastewater Treatment Works”, p. 3.


� “2001 New York Harbor Water Quality Report”, New York City Department of Environmental Protection, p. 24.


� http://www.epa.gov/owow/tmdl/intro.html


� http://www.epa.gov/waterscience/standards/


� State of New York Department of Environmental Conservation, Order on Consent, DEC Case # CO2-20010131, March 2002.


� “Wastewater from sewage treatment plants often contains organic materials that are decomposed by microorganisms, which use oxygen in the process.  [(]The amount of oxygen consumed by these organisms in breaking down the waste is known as the biochemical oxygen demand or BOD.” http://www.epa.gov/owow/monitoring/volunteer/stream/vms52.html


� http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/techbasedpermitting/sectreat.cfm


� “2001 New York Harbor Water Quality Report”, p. 25.  According that Report, “An interim upgrade is underway at Newtown Creek to keep the plant operating efficiently while the long-term plan to achieve full secondary treatment is developed.”  Id.


� http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/home.cfm?program_id=3


� “Introduction to the National Pretreatment Program”, United States Environmental Protection Agency, EPA-833-B-98-002, February 1999, p. iii.


� http://nyc.gov/html/dep/html/grease.html
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